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7. Description 
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Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance 

SUMMARY DESCRIPTION 

Virginia Manor is located off State Route 130, near Natural Bridge Station in Rock- 
bridge County. The main house is frame, having a two-story center block with a one-story 
wing on each side and a two-story rear ell. The front facade of the main block has a 
projecting center bay and a one-story porch. There have been several major interior and 
exterior alterations, most in the nineteenth century, which give the house its present 
formal and symmetrical appearance. Also on the property are a two-story playhouse, a 
tenants' house, a stable, a spring house, a brick storage building, a smoke-house, and 
a barn. These plus the main house make a total of eight contributing buildings. There 
are also three contributing structures: a railroad waiting station, a dam, and a boat- 
lock. There are no non-contributing buildings or structures. 

ARCHITECTURAL ANALYSIS 

Virginia Manor began in 1800 as a two-story center passage log structure. In 1856 
a cross-axial plan two-story, five-bay frame house eclipsed the log structure, which was 
turned into a rear wing. Probably at the same time an early nineteenth century kitchen 
was moved to adjoin the rear ell on the north. During the ownership of the George W. 
Stevens' between 1897 and 1920, two one-story, one-room wings with bay windows were added 
to the east and west sides of the 1850s house. In the early twentieth century, a small 
one-story section was added to the east of the rear ell and porches (later screened) were 
added on the north, east, and west ends of the house. 

The front (south) facade of the house consists of three symmetrical bays on each 
floor. The windows in each side bay are six-over-six with louvered shutters. The central 
bay on the second floor has a tripartite window, four-over-four in the middle and two- 
over-two on the sides. The first-floor center bay contains the doorway, which, although 
altered, retains its original rectangular transom and sidelights. The door itself is 
late-nineteenth century. A five-bay, one-story porch spans the front; the porch has six 
tapering wooden octagonal columns, a simple wide cornice, and a low hipped roof. Four 
wide shallow granite steps lead up to the center of the porch. The late-nineteenth century 
east and west wings are distinguished by projecting bays, each with a pair of one-over-one 
windows on the front and one-over-one windows on each slanting side. 

The house is covered in clapboards painted white. Windows are six-over-six for the 
most part, with a few two-over-two windows in the rear ell. About half of all the windows 
retain louvered shutters. The hipped roofs of the structure are standing-seam metal. 
The front section of the house has a simple exterior painted brick chimney on the north 
side and two brick chimneys (now encompassed by the bay-windowed wings). These wings 
also have a smaller interior brick chimney in each. There are two interior chimneys in 
the rear wing. A brick foundation supports the house. 

The plan of the 1850s section of Virginia Manor is a Greek cross in outline, with 
a center section two rooms deep and flanking sections of one room each. Upon entering 
the house, one finds a large square stair hall. The open-string stair with heavy carved 
newel in the Eastlake manner is late-nineteenth century, but is probably in the location 
of the original. Each tread of the stair has two tapering, elaborately turned balusters. 

To the west from the stair hall is the parlor; the opening between the rooms is 

(See Cont inuat ion Sheet ?:I) 
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Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Virginia Manor, originally known as Glengyle, is architecturally significant as one 
of a select group of Rockbridge County estates that evolved from a simple vernacular 
structure into a high-style country manor. In this regard the house is unusual in that 
the earlier portions were not removed, but were incorporated as subsequent additions were 
made. Thus, the house is illustrative of changing tastes in Rockbridge County architecture, 
representing vernacular building as well as Greek Revival and Eastlake styles. Virginia 
Manor's collection of outbuildings represent a complete assemblage of necessary support 
structures found in a late-nineteenth-century estate. 

The house is associated with two especially illustrious occupants, General Fitzhugh 
Lee and George W. Stevens. Lee, who lived in the house in the early 1890s, used it as 
headquarters for the Rockbridge Land Company, a speculative land development company 
centered on the Virginia Manor property. The house is especially noteworthy as the country 
house of George Stevens, President of the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad from 1900 until 
his death in 1920. Under Stevens' managment, the railroad experienced a time of tremendous 
expansion and prosperity, making it one of the most important railrca6s in Virginia and in 
the country. It was Stevens who made Virginia Manor into the country estate it is today. 
The small concrete waiting station still stands as a reminder of Stevens' menagement of 
the C & 0 Railroad from Virginia Manor. 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

The first owner of record of the property was Benjamin Blackburn, who in 1781 sold 
it to James McChesney, who subsequently sold it to John Flemming in 1800. It was proba- 
bly during Flemming's ownership that the first dwelling was built, a two-story house 
facing west on the top of the hill overlooking the James River and the valley. This 
structure is now the rear wing of the house. The property was a large tract of land, 
including all the area now called Greenlee and Glasgow. Called "Glengyle" at the time, 
this estate was part of the property known as the Flemming-Greenlee Plantation.1 

Although the estate was purchased by Richard H. Burks in 1850, the deed was not 
reocrded until April, 1856, when two of Burks' heirs became the owners. T.1  September 
of 1856, Thomas C. Burke became the owner of a 340-acre portion of the prcperty which 
included the main house. It was during the ownership of Thomas Burke that the house 
was enlarged by the building of the Greek Revival wing facing south and perpendicular 
to the original house. This period was a time of great prosperity for Lexington and 
Rockbridge County, brought about largely by the opening of the Kanawha Canal system in 
1850-1. Many houses, like Virginia Manor, were enlarged at this time, although the 
retention of the earlier vernacular log section at Virginia Manor is unusual. 

The property was passed by Burke's heirs to Martha Stoner in 1868; in 1890 she 

(See Cont inuat ion Sheet 12) 
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6. REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS 
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7. DESCRIPTION--Architectural Analysis 

supported by two full-round fluted Ionic columns. Behind the stair hall is the dining 
room, entered by multi-light doors. To the east of the stair hall and entered by a 
small hall under the stair is another room, probably a study or library originally. 
The second-floor plan of this section is similar to the first-floor plan. 

The easternmost and westernmost rooms are entered through the library or parlor. 
Behind the library is the original structure. Although this early portion may have 
had a central passage plan originally, the interior has now been all but obliterated 
in a recent remodeling to create a modern kitchen. 

The interior of the house has some fine Greek Revival moldings around the win- 
dows and doors on the first floor. On the second floor the casings have square corner 
blocks. In the front first-floor center space, a built-in corner cabinet from the 
mid-nineteenth century retains its elaborate glass doors. The trim in the late- 
nineteenth century additions is typically Victorian, narrower than the Greek Revival 
casings, and mitred at the corners. The walnut mantels are elaborately carved, with 
full-round turned columns at each side and gadrooning across the top. During the 
late nineteenth century the heavy paneled wainscot was added in the two center rooms 
and two rooms to the east, as well as up the stairs. This wainscot has two rows of 
indented square panels with chamfered corners. All the earlier mantels in the house 
were replaced in the late nineteenth century with a variety of Victorian mantels, 
ranging from very elaborate on the first floor to rather simple on the second floor. 
If there were any overmantels, none have survived. 

Most of the interior doors were replaced in the late nineteenth century with simple 
four-panel doors. A new front door was installed having indented L-shaped panels below 
a single pane of glass. The new doorway was embellished on the interior with applied 
carved moldings, and the design of the transom was altered. 

In the early years of the twentieth century, the mantel in the front parlor was 
removed and a heavy corbelled brick mantel installed. 

Since the early twentieth-century modifications, few alterations have occurred to 
the house, despite several changes of ownership. 

In the period of the Stevens' ownership, several of the important outbuildings on 
the property were added. The two-story playhouse just to the north of the main house 
was built in the first decade of the twentieth century for Stevens' two young daughters. 
The building has one room on the first floor and two rooms on the second floor, each 
originally reached by its own exterior stair (recently removed). The playhouse is clad 
in wood shingles, and has six-over-six windows, louvered shutters, and a hipped roof. 

(See Cont inuat ion  Sheet $2) 
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7. DESCRIPTION--Architectural Analysis 

Down the hill from the main house, the stable and tenant house also date from 
the ownership of the Stevens'. The two-story tenants' house is covered in square 
and scalloped shingles. The windows are six-over-six. There is a four-bay, one- 
story front porch. The interior of the house is simple, with a few embellishments 
such as the carved square newels and turned balusters on the stair, and door- and 
window-casings with bullseye corner blocks. The stable, which is sophisticated and 
stoutly built, has two full stories plus a basement. The interior fittings, including 
horse stalls, hay chutes, and hay loft, are all still intact. The framing of the stable 
is made of huge square timbers and some steel members. The exterior, covered in red- 
painted German siding, is graced by six-over-six windows. The original diagonal-board 
double front doors are found inside the recess formed by a projecting gabled entrance 
bay. The roof is of patterned slate and has two small gable-roofed cupolas along the 
ridge. 

Since George Stevens was the president of the Chesapeake and Ohio  ailr road, he had 
a small spur built off the railroad line running below the house. He also built a small 
concrete waiting station with a Spanish tile roof and "Virginia Manor" inscribed on the 
side facing the track. 

Down the hill to the east of the main house, in addition to the stable and tenant 
house, there are a spring house, a storage building, and a barn. The spring house, 
probably dating from the third quarter of the nineteenth century, is of stone with a 
pitched wood-shingle roof, and is built next to a small creek. The brick storage 
building dating from the last years of the nineteenth century has a pitched roof, 
decorative outriggers, and stone lintels. The north facade has three wooden doors. 
The simple mid-nineteenth-century barn is frame, with a pitched roof and a storage 
shed to the south. 

Behind the main house there is an early nineteenth-century frame storage building 
with attached shed, both with metal -covered pitched roofs. 

On the southest side of the property, near the river, is an unusually large stone 
boat-lock, once part of the Kanawha canal network, dating from the 1850s. 

The main house is set on a hill with sweeping views of the valley and the James 
River. A walkway and steps on axis with the front door lead down the hill. Legend 
reports that during Stevens' occupancy, a canopied walkway connected the railroad 
waiting station and the steps up to the house. Plantings are few around the house, 
with the exception of a row of boxwoods paralleling the front walk. 

8. SIGNIFICANCE--Historical Background 

sold it to the Rockbridge Land Company. This newly formed development company intended 
to partition the Glengyle property into small parcels, hoping to sell them in an anti- 
cipated G7asgow area land boom. This was part of a larger county-wide land boom that 

(See C o n t i n u a t i o n  Sl iee t  $ 3 )  
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8. SIGNIFICANCE--Historical Background 

began in 1889 and ended abruptly in 1892.~ As with Buena Vista and Goshen, Glasgow 
was laid out in a series of town and villa lots, along with industrial sites, since 
the focus of the proposed community was to be man~facturing.~ General Fitzhugh Lee, 
a nephew of Robert E. Lee, and himself a distinguished Civil War veteran, was presi- 
dent of the Rockbridge Land Company and resided in the Glengyle main house. The name 
"George Mason Lee" and the date "1895" are scratched into the lower pane of the front 
door's right sidelight, undoubtedly the work of onezthe Lee children.& Despite exten- 
sive advertising and very high hopes, the projected Glasgow land boom was a failure, 
and in 1897 the house that had been the focal point of the scheme, Glengyle, was sold 
to Mrs. Virginia Stevens. 

Mrs. Stevens lived in the house with her husband, George W. Stevens, who was presi- 
dent of the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad from 1900 to 1920. Stevens' career with the 
railroad began in 1864, in Utica, New York. After working his way up through almost 
every aspect of railroading, Stevens became president of the C & 0 at a critical time 
in its history. His presidency was characterized by tremendous expansion of the hold- 
ings of the company, including a significant increase in track mileage from 1900 to 
1920.5 Stevens was also knc& for his pursuit of excellent officer-employee relations, 
one proof of which was his founding of the Railroad Young Men's Christian Association 
in Richmond for the benefit of C & 0 workers. Stevens' foresight in acquiring three 
major West Virginia coal fields meant the financial salvation of the railroad. 

ALthough the Stevens' primary residence was in Richmond, the Rockbridge County 
house was used by them as a retreat and summer residence until George Stevens' death 
in 1920. The Stevens' were responsible for several interior and exterior additions 
and modifications to the main house. The tenant house was added at this time, as was 
the stable, reflecting Stevens' love of horses.6 The two-story playhouse behind the 
manor house was built for the Stevens' daughters. The two bay-windowed wings were 
added to the house by the Stevens', the interior stair was replaced, and distinctive 
paneled wainscot was installed on the first floor. The Stevens changed the name of 
the property to "Virginia Manor". 

George Stevens' position as president of the railroad meant that he had to have 
communication with the outside world while he was in residence at Virginia Manor. To 
this end, he had a small spur line built off the railraod line running between the 
house and the river for his own railroad car. He had the small concrete waiting station 
built on axis with the front door of the house; it is said that during his occupancy 
a canopy-covered walkway connected the two. One room on the first floor of the house 
was outfitted with telegraphic equipment to allow Stevens to direct railroad  operation^.^ 

In 1920 VIrginia Manor passed to the Stevens' daughter Helen and thence through 
a series of owners to the present owners, Dr. and Mrs. Louis A.  Skidmore. 

ENDNOTES 
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